Stanford Center for Ocean Solutions

STUDENT POLICY REPORT • APRIL 2024

Blue Foods for Indonesia: A Human & Planetary Health Action Lab

Aquaculture: Lessons Learned for Silvofishery Expansion in Indonesia

Christopher Shell, Kristy Mualim, Marina Luccioni, and Sydney Schmitter

This report was produced by a team of students participating in a ten-week Action Lab offered by the Stanford Center for Ocean Solutions and the Human & Planetary Health Initiative, of the Stanford Doerr School of Sustainability, and Stanford Law School. The course was taught by Jim Leape, Janet Martinez, Richard Nyiawung, and Eric Hartge, with support from Colette Wabnitz, Zach Koehn, Josheena Naggea, and Liz Selig. The Action Lab experience was supported by staff from the Stanford Human & Planetary Health Initiative: Kathy Burke, Allison Phillips, Erika Veidis, and Katie Vogelheim. An editing and formatting review was completed by Molly Glickman.

Stanford Human and Planetary Health Initiative

Stanford Law School Law and Policy Lab

Contents

Executive Summary	3
1. Introduction	4
Silvofishery Background	4
Key Takeaways from Existing Indonesian Silvofisheries	6
2. Methods & Evaluative Criteria	12
Economic Improvement	13
Disease Risk	14
Mangrove Ecosystems	15
3. Comparative Analysis: Silvofishery and Intensive Farming	16
3a) Economic Improvement	16
Revenue Over Time	16
Profit Over Time	16
Quality of Product (Export Value)	17
Income Diversification	
3b) Disease Risk	
Disease Treatment (Antibiotics/Medicines)	
Disease Prevention (Water Quality)	
3c) Mangrove Cover	19
4. Case Study: Silvofishery in Vietnam	19
4a) Silvofishery Context	19
4b) Policies Relevant to Silvofishery	20
4c) Policy Implications	21
4d) Policy Options for Silvofishery in Indonesia	29
4e) Policy Pathways	30
5. Conclusion	35
6. References	
7. Appendices	42

Executive Summary

In the following report, we present and analyze silvofishery, an integrated shrimp-mangrove farming method, for its ability to boost Indonesia's aquaculture sector while minimizing disease risk and protecting mangrove forests. The first section of the report provides important background and context on silvofishery as well as an extensive review of existing silvofishery systems in Indonesia. Based on this information, we then conduct a comparative analysis between silvofishery and intensive shrimp farming, focusing on criteria of economic improvement, disease risk, and mangrove protection. We note potential for silvofishery expansion, in alignment with Indonesia's goal of boosting shrimp aquaculture through greater land utilization, high growth targets per sector, and increased export volumes and values. Aside from improving aquaculture value chains, silvofishery expansion will also aid Indonesia's efforts to restore natural coastlines, revitalize unproductive ponds, and protect mangrove forests. We highlight potential limitations of silvofishery, including the scalability of its methods and the training demanded for implementation. Our report concludes with an applied assessment of Vietnam's silvofishery in which we examine policy pathways for silvofishery adoption and programs for increasing export value of aquaculture products.

1. Introduction

Integrated shrimp-mangrove management, or silvofishery, is a polyculture farming method that incorporates multiple species alongside mangrove forests to mimic natural processes. These systems promote the conservation of mangroves, which in turn provide the habitat, feed, and cover needed for farmed species to flourish as well as extensive ecosystem services on the local, national, and global level. Silvofishery is therefore an attractive farming method that offers a wide range of benefits – from sustainable, low-cost food production to disease mitigation and mangrove conservation. Importantly, as an extensive form of aquaculture, silvofishery does not meet the scale of shrimp production or the profit margins that intensive farming typically boasts. And, with complex farming methods that require adequate training, silvofisheries can be difficult to adopt and their success is heavily dependent on farmer perception.

Silvofishery Background

The silvofishery pond network – which rears multiple aquatic species and mangrove trees alongside one another – is coastally-based and has access to the tides. This system is known as *tambak tumpangsari*, and it can take on multiple forms, such as *empang parit* (pond trenches) and *komplang*. The two systems differ based on mangrove forest placement: in the empang parit system (Figure 1, Type I), mangroves are located at the center of the pond, whereas in komplang system (Figure 1, Type I) they are found at the edges. (Takashima 2000).





Figure 1. Schematic comparison between Type I (above) and Type II (below) Silvofishery Systems (Bengen 2004; van Oudenhoven et al. 2015).

In the Type I model, the farming area consists of between 60-80% mangrove cover and 20-40% canal pond water for aquatic species. Although the Type II model has the same mangrove to water ratio, mangrove placement occurs strategically in strips, rather than at the center of the farming area. In order to promote coastward surface flow runoff, these strips are placed perpendicular to one another. The Type II silvofishery model has several advantages over the Type I model, including stronger pond management, higher production potential, and lower costs for farmers. Additionally, due to the increased flow associated with mangrove strip placement, there are reduced levels of tannin, a toxin that can secrete into the system from mangrove areas. (Fitzgerald and Others 2000).

Both models are polycultural systems, and farmed species include milkfish, tilapia, mullet, sea bass, black tiger shrimp, and mudcrabs. Farmers are able to bring to market all of these products boosting farm resilience. Productivity for wild shrimp is higher in brackish ponds with greater mangrove cover. Ponds with no mangrove cover produce 171 kg/ha/year of wild shrimp while ponds with greater than 80% mangrove cover can produce 414 kg/ha/year of wild shrimp (Takashima 2000). The greater productivity and diversity of products creates resilience for the farmer due to ability to absorb market shocks because of product differentiation.

Key Takeaways from Existing Indonesian Silvofisheries

In the following section, we present a thorough survey of existing silvofishery systems in Indonesia, focusing particularly on regions with high wild-capture and aquaculture production. Our takeaways, which are based on the available literature and expert consultations, aim to provide essential knowledge on the barriers to and drivers of successful silvofishery implementation.

As part of Indonesia's pond revitalization plan, studies were conducted in Situbondo to understand the feasibility and potential of silvofishery in these coastal areas for the revitalization of unproductive farm ponds (Musa, Mahmudi, et al. 2020). The authors found that silvofishery could benefit sustainable fisheries culture, and is fundamentally easy to control. **Unproductivity of these farms were attributed to poor water quality driven by livestock sewage, domestic activity and boat parking.** These findings were further corroborated by studies that demonstrated the effectiveness of silvofishery systems in improving water quality (Musa, Lusiana, et al. 2020), which suggests that **silvofishery systems could also be used to ameliorate regions with poor water quality or serve as water treatment for intensive aquaculture waste.**

Many countries involved in shrimp production have experienced disease outbreaks as a result of mangrove deforestation due to intensive shrimp cultivation (Fisheries and Others 2016; Malik, Mertz, and Fensholt 2017). The effluents from intensive shrimp cultivation have also been known to affect neighboring farms and nearby mangrove forests causing increased occurrences of disease and further environmental degradation (Stokstad 2010; Bui, Maier, and Austin 2014). The no-feed/low inputs to maintain silvofishery systems and their intrinsic ability to enhance farming ecosystems allows it to achieve a higher level of disease resistance in shrimp (Ifoam 2012; Naturland 2002). Other epidemiological research has also shown that alongside best aquaculture practices, the presence of mangrove forests is important for **decreasing the frequency and impact of disease outbreaks** (Tendencia, Bosma, and Verreth 2011). Additional research should be done to identify local aquatic species in these filter ponds, that could aid in further decreasing risk of disease in shrimp and in further diversifying farmers income.

Takeaway: Silvofishery systems offer an avenue for the revitalization of previously unproductive farms and can improve surrounding water quality.

Silvofishery has been suggested as a strategy to promote both economic development and mangrove restoration. Integrated mangrove forests and aquaculture systems have already been implemented in locations such as Sinjai in South Sulawesi, Indonesia. Born in 1984 as a cooperative project between the Ministry of Forest, the District Government, and the University of Hasanuddin, silvofishery was initially part of a community-led mangrove replanting program aimed at minimizing coastal erosion of the local fishing village (Fitzgerald and Others 2000). In addition, the Southern Sulawesi Province Fisheries Office in the 1990s tested out empang parit designs in Luwu and Kwandang in Sulawesi, as well as in Cikiong and Blanakan in West Java under the Island Sustainability, Livelihood and Equity Program as an attempt to improve aquaculture production of the empang parit system. Some initial results showed that introducing crab culture had better water flushing conditions compared to pens located in the canal.

Unfortunately, the collection of data and an economic analysis of the empang parit designs in Luwu and Kwandang in Sulawesi is incredibly limited. One study performed an economic evaluation on silvofishery farms in Cangkring and Blanakan in West Java. Both sites utilized the traditional empang parit' system with an 8:2 model of mangrove to water channels. The authors found that annual net income was US\$408/ha (1,000,700 Rp/ha) and US\$248/ha (608,500 Rp /ha) respectively, with the difference mainly attributing to the species cultured (Tilapia for Blanakan sites and Milkfish for Cangkring sites) (Widiarti and Effendi 1989). All together, the success of silvofishery systems is highly dependent on a series of various factors including: 1) density of mangroves to pond, 2) species of mangroves chosen, 3) cultivation chosen and 4) type of silvofishery system adopted. Incorrect implementation of silvofishery systems has often resulted in unproductive farms, harmful algal blooms and poor water quality. Adequate training knowledge is therefore required to understand appropriate models of adoption, proper species based on site characteristics, and suitable mangrove:pond ratios for maximizing pond productivity. Selection for the most appropriate silvofishery model is often site-dependent and heavily influenced by the state of the mangrove system (Fitzgerald and Others 2000; Musa, Mahmudi, et al. 2020; Umilia and Asbar 2016). Implementation should be carried out alongside

an area-wide integrated coastal management approach to prevent situations of environmental degradation (Musa, Mahmudi, et al. 2020). Existing studies have pointed to silvofishery as a "complex social-ecological system" requiring the intersection of government management, land use policy, and regulation to enable both sustainable shrimp production while maintaining the ecological function of mangrove ecosystems (T. T. T. Ha, van Dijk, and Bush 2012; T. T. P. Ha, van Dijk, and Visser 2014; Bush et al. 2010). When implemented properly, silvofishery systems are an avenue for low-input sustainable aquaculture.

Previous studies have shown the factors that affect the successful adoption of silvofishery systems. Understanding farmers' perceptions of silvofishery systems is also important in order to necessitate adoption – one study found that while **60% of mangrove cover is recommended to maximize productivity** in integrated mangrove shrimp farming systems, farmers have a preference for mangrove coverage between 30-50%, with most farmers choosing 30% mangrove cover as most suitable for shrimp development. Further, a small percentage of interviewees perceived shrimp productivity to decrease as mangroves matured (Nguyen et al. 2022). While overly heavy mangrove cover (> 60%) can lead to losses in productivity, studies have shown increases in both pond productivity and economic value for silvofishery systems with mangroves (Suwarto et al. 2022).

While the benefits of silvofishery in Indonesia has been well-documented (Takashima 2000; Sukardjo 2000), **lack of silvofishery adoption could be attributed to lack of education**, **aversion to new techniques and disbeliefs that the new system could increase incomes** (Susilo et al. 2018). Studies surveying differences between adopters and non-adopters of silvofishery within the Mahakam Delta found that **most adopters are a part of farming cooperatives, have attended aquaculture training, and received a higher number of visits from extension agents** (Susilo et al. 2018). To ensure that small-scale farmers practicing silvofishery will be successful, it is essential that farmers are equipped with the technical capabilities to handle both mangroves and shrimp in terms of nutrition, disease control and general husbandry since these factors will greatly affect productivity.

While certain forestry policies have helped silvofishery implementation spread in Vietnam, some studies have shown that implementing regional rehabilitation and conservation policies, such as the Regional Regulation No. 8 of 1999, have seen **conflicts of interest between communities**

and local governments. These conflicts are primarily due to the lack of direct contribution of rehabilitation efforts to people's income (Umilia and Asbar 2016). Thus, while the government can incentivize farmers through public sector institutions, farmers tend to have more trust in cooperatives.

Another study examined the effectiveness of an Indonesian multi-level governmental program, Pengelolaan Irigasi Tambak Partisipatif (PITAP), for four aquaculture farms in Lombok (Paramita et al. 2023). The overall goal was to support small-scale and traditional aquaculture farmers in repairing tertiary irrigation canals by enhancing community participation with labor incentives and simple tools. These four farms differed in socio-ecological characteristics that influenced collective action, briefly summarized into these categories: 1) farm ownership, 2) potential sources of pollution, 3) dependence on aquaculture as a basis of livelihood, and 4) aquaculture type. The authors found stark differences in the success of PITAP across the four locations in Lombok that can be categorized into **five main findings**:

- The establishment of aquaculture cooperatives that should be supported by the government, especially at MMAF, provincial and district levels in the Marine and Fisheries Department.
- Integrating capacity building for farmers through training on effective and efficient traditional small-scale aquaculture systems as well as good knowledge of the resource system so that farmers understand how to manage or improve their system efficiently and effectively together (North 2008; Fujiie, Hayami, and Kikuchi 2005).
- 3. Regular communication forums to build both trust and social capital, in order to ensure that farmers are committed to pursuing collective action goals
- 4. Access to technical support that allows farmers to get training on maintenance techniques suitable for each village's system
- 5. Supporting the establishment of aquaculture farmer cooperatives

Takeaway: Implementation of silvofishery requires expert knowledge, effective outreach to communities and extensive aquaculture training (as articulated by the authors' five main findings above).

When evaluating studies that compare shrimp farming systems with and without mangrove cover, farmers with integrated shrimp-mangrove farming cite lower capital provisions, diversification of livelihoods from polyculture, and benefits from the recognition of organic farming practices (Basyuni, Yani, and Hartini 2018). Mangrove forests provide naturally growing aquatic bioata, fodder for cattle and livestock, and coastal protection for villages. A study in Indonesia's Mahakam Delta found in surveys of extensive shrimp pond farmers that over 40% of households' livelihoods could be linked back to the mangrove estuarine environment (Bosma et al. 2012a). While the initial set-up of an integrated mangrove system requires a sizable capital (Fitzgerald and Others 2000), a no-feed system suggests fewer additional input, unlike integrated shrimp farming practices where close to 53% and 22% of the annual costs are attributed to feed and medicine (Nguyen et al. 2022). In Vietnam, shrimp farmers remain robust to market fluctuations of shrimp costs through on-farm diversification, off-farm labor (i.e., additional employment through construction work or agricultural farming), as well as the culture of other fish or salt production. However, it is important to note that the transition for fishers and pond farmers to diverse livelihoods may be difficult to achieve and require labor market support for adequate income diversification.

Silvofishery systems also benefit from **intentional knowledge on the selection of mangrove species and fish/crustaceans raised** (Basyuni, Yani, and Hartini 2018; Budihastuti, Anggoro, and Saputra 2013). Careful consideration needs to be placed on which types of mangrove species and densities that would be beneficial for the characteristics of the site and its productivity. One study explored the impacts of different mangrove species on aquaculture systems in North Sumatra and found that *Rhizophora mucronata* promotes plankton growth and provides higher nutrients than other types of mangrove strands. *Avicennia marina* serves as a coastal protection and *Rhizophora stylosa* leaves could serve as both feed and shade for livestock (Basyuni, Yani, and Hartini 2018).

A comparative study between traditional, extensive and integrated mangrove-shrimp farming found overall profits were the highest for integrated shrimp-mangrove farming by at least six-fold, at \$68,923 USD compared to \$11,259 USD and \$1,288 USD for extensive and traditional shrimp farming systems (Bunting et al. 2013). A portion of these profits were attributable to higher mean shrimp harvest weight, higher shrimp stocking densities, and higher shrimp

survival. Taken together, the increased profits, low additional input costs, and the diversification of income associated with integrated shrimp-mangrove farming highlight the comparative economic benefit that silvofishery systems offer. Yet, importantly, the cost of pond construction may make empang parit systems less economically attractive than traditional brackish pond culture (Bunting et al. 2013). Hence, government subsidies (through low-cost lease and a package of technical and capital assistance) may be an attractive option to meet the needs of farmers while encouraging mangrove rehabilitation (Fitzgerald and Others 2000).

Takeaway: Integrated mangrove aquaculture systems (Silvofishery) provide greater economic benefits to the farmer and greater environmental benefits to the natural system when compared to traditional extensive farming practices. Capital investment for construction costs is an impeding factor for silvofishery adoption that can be navigated through government actions.

Silvofishery should not be encouraged in areas with intact mangrove forests since the **ecosystem and economic potential of intact mangrove forests still far outweighs that of similar sized shrimp ponds** (Farley et al. 2010). While integrated mangrove aquaculture has shown considerable evidence in facilitating better water quality and increased production as compared to traditional extensive farming, **fragmentation of mangrove forests still does not function similarly and cannot replace the ecosystem services that intact mangrove forests provide** (Joffre et al. 2015; Koch et al. 2009). One study noted that the lack of regular water exchange in some integrated mangrove aquaculture prevents predatory fish from foraging and juvenile fish from using tidal exchanges to seek shelter and forage (Layman et al. 2004; Harborne, Talwar, and Brooks 2016). However, facilitated design of integrated-mangrove aquaculture could circumvent this problem. Specific attention could be focused on revitalizing abandoned shrimp farms in mangrove areas and can only be done to convert extensive farming systems since the soils that support healthy mangrove forests are typically highly organic and potentially acidic, making it unproductive for conversion to semi-intensive or intensive farming (McSherry et al.

Takeaway: Silvofishery can be used as a means for revitalization or to convert existing extensive farming systems, when applicable.

2023; Fitzgerald and Others 2000).

Integrated mangrove aquaculture systems offer a means of livelihood for those with limited financial capacity. The costs associated with integrated mangrove aquaculture can mostly be attributed to small material expenses for harvesting and the purchase of larvae, if applicable. A comparative study across extensive and intensive farms found that integrated mangrove aquaculture was the least expensive in terms of investment (Nguyen et al. 2022). Most mangrove-shrimp households also rely on income diversification as a way to enable resilience to market fluctuations. The same study found that total revenues are similar when compared to traditional extensive farming, but shrimp from integrated mangrove aquaculture was reported to fetch higher prices given its bigger size and absence of antibiotics (Nguyen et al. 2022).

Integrated mangrove farming has already been recognized as an organic aquaculture method. Silvofishery products could likely fetch even higher prices if they are certified as organic. Integrated mangrove aquaculture farms could potentially buy into organic certification programs or programs such as the REDD+ (Reducing emissions from avoided deforestation and forest degradation and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries) scheme. However, even REDD+ schemes are often not feasible for mangrove areas smaller than 500 ha and the price of carbon credits (<7 USD tCO2, assuming that a 500 hectare mangrove farm sequesters 3 tCO2 / ha / year) is not at a point that allows farmers to rely solely on carbon credits (McNally, McEwin, and Holland 2011). Finally, shrimps cultivated under mangroves reported higher survival rates and reduced disease outbreaks since mangroves played an important role in improving overall water quality.

Takeaway: Silvofishery represents an important source of livelihood and provides opportunities for poverty alleviation.

2. Methods & Evaluative Criteria

The following section reviews the methods and approach guiding the comparative analysis between silvofishery and intensive farming methods that is presented in section 3 of this report. Specifically, we explain the logic and process behind our selection of the following three evaluative criteria: economic improvement, disease risk, and mangrove cover. The first two criteria were highlighted by the Indonesian Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries (MMAF) in their Strategic Plan for 2020–2024, and it is expected that the goals of the next term, 2025-2030, will maintain continuity with previous years (Rositawati, pers. comm). Protecting and recovering mangrove cover is an important aim for Indonesian biodiversity and climate resilience efforts, and it has been a top priority for the Indonesia Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (IBSAP). While economic improvement and increasing mangrove cover might be seen as being 'at-odds' with each other, we highlight potential avenues that could enable shrimp aquaculture to be productive, profitable, and sustainable. Data from other countries such as India and Vietnam suggest that comparing trade-offs from different shrimp farming systems is urgent and timely in the context of Indonesia's growth goals for this sector. Bhattacharya and Ninan (2011) write,

"Although intensive shrimp farming yields high returns as compared to traditional shrimp farming, when the opportunity costs and environmental costs of shrimp farming, including disease risk, are accounted for, intensive shrimp farming loses its advantage."

The aim of this analysis was to improve clarity about whether the same conclusions might be drawn for Indonesia.

We gathered data for our comparative analysis from over twenty peer-reviewed research papers and reports found using google scholar and google search with the keywords: *shrimp farming*, *indonesia*, *intensive*, *silvofishery*, *comparison*, *profit/revenue/economics*, *disease*, *water quality*.

Economic Improvement

Boosting economic output is a key target for shrimp aquaculture in Indonesia. Government documentation calls for 2 million tons of shrimp production per year and increasing export value by 250% (Klinger 2024). Furthermore, there is a desire to boost overall acreage dedicated to shrimp production. Shrimp production can improve the overall wealth of communities and increasing economic improvement from shrimp production is a core aspect of Indonesia's goals of becoming a high income by 2045.

Shrimp can also provide a key source of nutrition for communities, improving economic wellbeing. Indonesia suffers from a high stunting rate of 21.6%. This rate increases in less developed parts of the nation, reaching 35.3% in Nusa Tenggara Timur (Juwana 2024). Shrimp production can help solve this problem. Shrimp is high in Vitamin B12 and Calcium (Golden et al. 2021). These two micronutrients combined with greater caloric intake due to increased local production can be a part of solutions to help solve nutritional problems in Indonesia.

With the set targets of boosting economic well being, both from a monetary and a nutritional perspective, it is important that shrimp aquaculture meets these targets. These are the criteria by which silvofishery will be judged against to ensure that it meets these targets.

Disease Risk

Disease is one of the biggest concerns in shrimp aquaculture. Disease can destroy whole farms and spread between farms wrecking the crop of a production region. Export losses due to disease in Thailand's Mahachai Market were estimated to be \$4.2 billion. In Vietnam's Mekong Delta, in just 2015 alone, losses due to disease were estimated to be over \$37 million (Shinn et al. 2018).

Historically, disease between farms has been viral-bourne. The most common viral pathogens were yellow head virus (YHV), Taura syndrome virus (TSV), and white-sport syndrome (WSSV) (Shinn et al. 2018). These viral pathogens were largely responsible for shrimp production crashes of the late 1980s and 1990s (Shinn et al. 2018). More recently, since 2010, there has been the emergence of bacterial and fungal agents, hepatopancreatic necrosis disease (VP) and *Enterocytozoon hepatopenaei* (EHP), respectively (Shinn et al. 2018).

Disease continues to negatively affect shrimp farms. From 2010-2015, production averages in Asia decreased by -2.87% per year and the annual growth rate decreased by -4.69% per year (Shinn et al. 2018). The decline in production over just half a decade indicates the significant negative effect that disease has on shrimp. Thus, if the economic targets listed above are going to be met, a shrimp aquaculture method needs to reduce disease risk as much as possible. Silvofishery should be measured against this.

Mangrove Ecosystems

Indonesia hosts the largest mangrove cover in the world holding 22% of global mangrove cover (Sasmito et al. 2023). Yet, over the last 30 years, nearly 40%, or 800,000ha, of mangroves have been lost. Roughly half of this loss is due to land conversion for shrimp and fish farms (Fisheries and Others 2016). Indonesia has set the robust goal of restoring 600,000ha of mangroves by 2024 (Sasmito et al. 2023).

Mangrove forests provide many ecosystem service functions. Mangroves capture and store carbon as well as regulate aquatic nutrient cycles. Mangroves additionally provide smaller-scale benefits such as protecting communities for storms, provide essential fuel and timber supplies, and support key breeding grounds for wild fisheries (Getzner and Islam 2020). On the shrimp farming front, mangrove deforestation is having a perverse effect. Surveys of communities in India and Vietnam found increased coastal erosion, salinity intrusion, decline in post-larvae shrimp density, decreased mud crab abundance, and further acidification of shrimp aquaculture ponds (Getzner and Islam 2020). These impacts point to the critical role that mangroves play in local shrimp farming communities. As these services decline, the challenges of running a successful shrimp farm may increase (Getzner and Islam 2020). Zoomed out to the community level, community surveys stated that decline of mangroves affected local employment, led to poor health, and increased fuelwood challenges.

Due to the positive benefits that mangroves provide, the growing desire to conserve them, and the negative effect that shrimp farms can have on mangrove forests, it is of critical importance that future shrimp farms factor in mangrove conservation. Thus, silvofishery will be judged against this criterion and compared to the other possible shrimp farming methods.

3. Comparative Analysis: Silvofishery and Intensive Farming

3a) Economic Improvement

Revenue Over Time

Total revenue directly contributes to GDP and is an easily accessible statistic describing the efficacy of different farming techniques. In a given year, intensive farming is known to produce a higher yield of shrimp per hectare, resulting in greater economic returns for farmers. However, these results can be misleading in that they fail to account for the long-term returns associated with intensive farming, which can drop steeply after 3 years due to diseases eradicating shrimp populations (Basyuni, Yani, and Hartini 2018). By contrast, silvofishery systems produce less shrimp in the short-term, but, given their resilience to disease and superior quality of product, there are greater profits associated with these systems in the long-term.

Profit Over Time

Perhaps a more important measure than total revenue for farmers' livelihoods and long-term economic growth is individual profit. To this end, intensive farming requires much more capital investment since machines are usually needed to clear-cut mangroves and dig ditches to create ponds, and more machinery needs to be installed to maintain the water circulation and monitoring of the water quality and other pond metrics. For intensive shrimp farming systems, 20-50% of annual costs are attributed to feed and shrimp disease treatment (Nguyen et al. 2022). Economic analysis of profitability for different Indonesian shrimp farming systems across multiple locations and years lead Kusumastanto, Jolly, and Bailey (1998) to conclude that "intensive systems of production pose significant economic as well as ecological risks" especially to smallholder farmers.

By contrast, silvofishery systems do not require feed or external pumps to circulate water. There is higher plankton load in silvofishery ponds, which means that feed/nutrition/biomass is obtained " for free" by farmers (Sahidin et al., n.d.). A comparative study across extensive, integrated-mangrove and intensive farms found that integrated-mangrove aquaculture was the least expensive in terms of investment (Nguyen et al. 2022). The main costs associated with this

fishery are labor costs for pond upkeep, including trimming back mangroves to an optimal percentage cover. Additionally, silvofishery ponds take a number of years to "mature" and reach their maximum productivity, a fact that is easily missed by the majority of studies aiming to assess the productivity of silvofishery ponds, which only collect data in the first few months following implementation. Table 1 in the Appendix summarizes the costs associated with Indonesian silvofishery farms of different sizes.

Quality of Product (Export Value)

Low meat quality is one of the primary barriers to Indonesian shrimp exports. In many cases, shrimp are rejected from intensive farms are rejected for export due to the presence of chemical contamination from antibiotics or hormones that are used to treat ponds or feed shrimp. Exporting farmers will also receive different prices based on size and homogeneity of their product. Silvofishery farmed shrimp are larger and have less chemical contamination than intensively farmed shrimp, which can allow farmers to access price premiums that are not attainable with intensively farmed shrimp.

- *Chemical contamination:* Silvofishery performs much better than intensive farming for this metric because silvofishery does not require the addition of chemicals that can cause export batches to be rejected. If a silvofishery system is located near an intensive fishery system, runoff from the intensive farm can negatively affect the quality of the silvofishery product. Conversely, silvofishery systems can help to improve the water quality of intensive farm systems (Musa, Lusiana, et al. 2020).
- *Size:* In Indonesia, silvofishery-farmed shrimp are routinely recorded as larger than intensively farmed shrimp (Asmild et al. 2024). In some cases this is because the species that is adapted to silvofishery (*P.monodon*) naturally grows larger than the species adapted for intensive farming (*L.vannamei*). Yet some studies also show that the lower densities and varied diet resulting from polyculture in the silvofishery system allows shrimp adequate space and nutrition to attain a larger size.
- *Market Trends:* The shrimp aquaculture market is increasingly competitive. Indian shrimp aquaculture has grown significantly and now accounts for 14% of global shrimp production (Rubel et al., 2021). The flood of Indian shrimp has driven the prices down, reducing profits for Indonesian farmers. If Indonesia farms attempt to sell shrimp at the

same rate as their Indian counterparts, Indonesia farms would barely make a profit (Rubel et al., 2021). Yet, concurrently, US and EU consumers demand greater sustainability and transparency for seafood products. Previous analysis has shown that capturing this market trend could allow Indonesia to maintain market share in the face of a more competitive export landscape (Rubel et al., 2021).

Income Diversification

Income diversification provides an important economic buffer for small-scale farmers in the face of market fluctuations. For example, shrimp prices have decreased by 33% globally, from a high of \$10.75/kg in March 2014 to \$7.15/kg in 2024 (International Monetary Fund 2024). Therefore, many farmers rely on other livelihoods, such as construction, to ensure a minimum daily income of ~ Rp 50,000-100,000 (Paramita et al. 2023). Whereas intensive does not provide diverse income options to farmers, silvofishery offers alternative opportunities for income from the sale of milkfish, seaweed, crabs, all of which are co-cultured with shrimp. Additionally, mangroves in the pond, which need to be trimmed and cut-back regularly, can be used as firewood and fodder for livestock, providing further support and economic stability for farmers.

3b) Disease Risk

Disease Treatment (Antibiotics/Medicines)

Shrimp disease directly affects the productivity of a pond, and treatment for these diseases has shown growing antibiotic resistance. Intensive farmers have increasingly focused on only one species of shrimp (L. vannamei) in order to concentrate efforts for developing new medicines (Amelia, Yustiati, and Andriani, n.d.). Many intensive farms have to be abandoned because of disease outbreaks that run out of control, with declining profitability from disease outbreaks in ponds (Asche et al. 2021).

Disease Prevention (Water Quality)

Because shrimp disease treatment is difficult and uncertain, shrimp farmers usually focus on the prevention of disease, which is largely dependent on water quality (Thitiwan Patanasatienkul,

Milan Gautam, K. Larry Hammell, Dimas Gilang, Marina K. V. C. Delphino, Holly Burnley, Nikmatun Aliyah Salsabila, Krishna K. Thakur 2023). For this reason, intensive farms invest heavily into powerful pumps for water circulation and monitoring instruments for pH and other pond water metrics. Silvofishery systems do not use water pumps, instead relying on the natural filtering capacity of mangrove roots to remove contamination and stabilize pH. Shrimp used in silvofishery systems (*P. monodon*) are naturally more resistant to poor water quality conditions (Hukom et al. 2020).

3c) Mangrove Cover

In one economic analysis of Net Present Value of mangrove forests and commercial aquaculture in South Sulawesi, authors suggest that the "conversion of mangroves into commercial aquaculture was not economically beneficial when the analysis was expanded to cover the costs of environmental and forest rehabilitation" (Malik, Fensholt, and Mertz 2015). As an alternative solution, silvofishery systems allow for mangrove forests to exist alongside, and even within, the shrimp farming operation, continuing to perform vital ecosystem services such as storm protection (Harefa et al. 12 2019). These mangroves need to be managed so that they do not overgrow the entire pond, but their existence in appreciable numbers is crucial for the correct functioning of the system. A silvofishery system conserves 30–60% of mangroves which would otherwise be permanently felled within an semi-intensive or intensive system.

4. Case Study: Silvofishery in Vietnam

4a) Silvofishery Context

In 2013, Vietnam's Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development issued a master plan for the development of the shrimp industry with an ambitious target to produce 1.3 million metric tons of farmed shrimp and to achieve USD \$12 billion in export revenue by 2030 (Rubel et al. 2021). Vietnam is the third largest global shrimp producer and exports its shrimp stocks to Canada, the United States of America, the European Union, China, South Korea, and Japan (Rubel et al. 2021). Compared to the historic yet community-specific implementation of silvofishery in Indonesia, silvofishery is extensively adopted in certain regions of Vietnam such as the Mekong

Delta in the Ca Mau region (Hai et al. 2020). Vietnam and Indonesia are both global producers of shrimp, maintain similar geographies and climates in Southeast Asia, and share many similar challenges in the sustainability of shrimp farming. Exploring the policy landscape that enabled Vietnam's rapid expansion of silvofishery, as well as the challenges and successes of adoption, is valuable in informing the potential of silvofishery to expand as a practice in Indonesia.

The Ca Mau region is the leading producer of shrimp in Vietnam, with 265,153 hectares of ponds producing 99,600 million metric tons, or 25% of the country's total production (Ha 2012). Between 1983 and 1995, in Minh Hai province, the area covered by shrimp culture increased from 3000 hectares to more than 76,000 hectares, and more than 66,000 hectares of mangrove forest were converted into shrimp ponds ("Management of the Integrated Mangrove-Aquaculture Farming Systems in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam," n.d.). In 2009, integrated mangrove-shrimp farming accounted for 17.5% of the cultivated area in Ca Mau province (Joffre et al. 2015). During the American-Vietnam War, more than 2.2 million hectares of land in South Vietnam, including 150,000 hectares of mangroves, were heavily damaged by bombing and toxic chemical defoliants.

4b) Policies Relevant to Silvofishery

Mangroves are a major source of timber and thatching for houses and other buildings Ca Mau, as well as a source of fuel. However, the most serious decline in forest cover occurred after the war, corresponding to a major increase in the prices of aquatic products in national and international markets that caused people to convert forestland to aquaculture. To respond to the rapid destruction of mangroves in the region, national and provincial-level decisions were made to control forest production.

Of these provincial policies, the most significant policy that spurred the implementation of silvofishery in Vietnam is Decision No. 64 of 1991 by the Minh Hai government which allocated 70% of land for mangrove forests, 20% for ponds, and 10% for housing and other domestic purposes. By thinning mangroves per government policy and harvesting mangroves in 20-year cycles, farmers receive up to 80% of the profit from final harvest and 100% of the profit from thinning mangroves. These land use allocations were further specified by Decision No. 24 of

2002, where for each household with an area of 3–10 hectares, 50–70% of the land must be reserved for mangrove forest, 20–40% of land for ponds, and 10% for housing (T. T. P. Ha, van Dijk, and Visser 2014). In line with national policy goals in Vietnam to increase provincial aquaculture exports, the provincial government modified these guidelines to increase the proportion of land used for agriculture, housing, and other domestic purposes to 40% of land area in Decision No. 10 of 2010. Although there is a profit-sharing mechanism for timber harvest, the implementation of mangrove-integrated shrimp farming systems is more of a response to a restriction rather than a choice made by shrimp farmers in the region. More than 90% of these integrated mangrove-shrimp farms are contracted by a State Forest Enterprise or Forest Management Board, which provide farmers with short-term leases of 20 years and stipulates a specific forest-to-pond ratio, tree plantation density, and timber market. Failure to meet these requirements results in the lease being revoked after the 20-year lease expires (Barry Clough et al. 2000).

These integrated shrimp-mangrove systems are extensive and generally rely on passively collected natural seed stocks and use supplementary stocking of postlarvae shrimp from hatcheries to stock at a low density of 1 to 1.5 postlarvae shrimp per square meter. Additionally, mangrove trees are planted at intervals of 10 to 20 years and are replanted for timber harvest (Bridson, n.d.). In the Mekong Delta, there are two types of integrated mangrove-shrimp farming. One type is a mixed system with mangrove trees planted on raised beds, or bunds, within the system, and the second type is a separated system with a larger mangrove area inside the farm's water area (Figure 1, Appendix).

4c) Policy Implications

The extensive production system is typically smallholders who raise black tiger shrimp and generally have low access to capital, infrastructure, and electricity. These smallholders make up 90% of total shrimp production in the Ca Mau area and 60% of the total volume produced in the region (Barry Clough et al. 2000). About 75% of extensive shrimp farmers in the region are indebted after acquiring formal and informal loans from relatives and suppliers, and generally rely solely on the income from shrimp harvest (Barry Clough et al. 2000). These farms are rarely upgraded to semi-intensive or intensive farms due to poor access to finances and the capital to

transition, as well as a lack of knowledge to successfully operate an intensive system (Joffre et al. 2015).

Although there has been a push for semi-intensive and intensive shrimp aquaculture due to national policy pushing for higher productivity, semi-intensive aquaculture is more capital-intensive and carries a higher risk of financial loss. Many small-scale farmers in the extensive system do not have the capital to invest in semi-intensive aquaculture and already have little experience with culturing *P. monodon* successfully (Barry Clough et al. 2000). Extensive systems in Ca Mau province that integrate the cultivation of mangrove trees have lower production levels per area than other extensive systems in the area but also demonstrate a lower overall risk of crop loss (Tran Thi Phung 2012). Shrimp production benefits from the water filtration and shading provided by the integrated mixed system and timber harvest provides additional income, but these systems are characterized by low shrimp yields (Table 1). However, these lower yields are also associated with an important trade-off with owner inputs and lower virulence of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV), the most serious viral pathogen of cultured shrimp, which results in lower incidence of disease and lower mortality rates (Tendencia et al. 2012; T. T. P. Ha, van Dijk, and Visser 2014; Hoa et al. 2011).

	Unit	Integrated Mangrove- Shrimp System	Extensive Shrimp	Intensive Shrimp
Farm/% pond area to total farm area	ha	5 to 15/40%	2 to 4/90%	.2 to 3/90%
Water exchange		Bi-monthly tidal	Bi-monthly tidal or pumping	Limited
Stocking density and stocking frequency	Post Larvae/m^2	1–3; 5–8 times a year	1.7–3 at initial stocking + monthly 10% of initial stocking	15–30 in single stocking
Yield P. monodon	kg/ha/year	228–365	242-475	2400-2600
Proportion of annual farm income from other aquatic products than shrimp	%	28	9	0

Table 1. Main characteristics of shrimp farms in the Mekong Delta with incomes based on prices in 2007 and 2008 (Joffre and Bosma 2009; Son et al. 2011; Ha 2012a and Ha 2012b; Joffre et al. 2015).

Range of annual income	\$US/hectare /year	700-850	1050-2050	340– 12,300
% of total shrimp area in Ca Mau Province	%	17.5	82	.5
% of total shrimp area in the Mekong Delta	%	8.5	82.5	9

Surveys of Ca Mau farmers under the integrated mangrove-shrimp system indicate general dissatisfaction with existing mangrove-to-pond area restrictions. In a survey conducted by Clough et al. in 2000, compared to the annual profit from a good shrimp harvest, the profits from a mangrove plot after a 20-year waiting period do not seem to be attractive to farmers. Farmers are unsure about the potential profit from mangroves because the cost outlay is unclear for themmangroves are seen as more of a liability than a future income source. These attitudes are attributed to a general lack of awareness about the ecological importance of mangroves. Additionally, farmers would rather have a larger area allocated to shrimp farms than mangroves, which makes them dissatisfied with the current land use restrictions (Barry Clough et al. 2000). Moreover, mangroves are planted and harvested in 20-year cycles. In the structure of a 20-year lease, farmers who plant mangroves in their first year can expect to harvest within the final period of their lease, whereas farmers who do not plant in the first year of their lease can only benefit from harvest if their lease is renewed. This is a strong disincentive for farmers to manage their allocated area of mangrove forest (Barry Clough et al. 2000). Additionally, farmers report that shrimp yields decrease when mangroves within ponds reach 8-10 years of age due to the lack of light through shading of pond canals by the forest canopy, and mangrove leaves decompose in pond canals, introducing high levels of tannin to the pond bottom where shrimp usually feed.

A study by Joffre et al. in 2015 studied how to provide Ca Mau farmers with the best conditions under which they can decide to transition to an integrated mangrove-shrimp system. There are a multitude of factors that influence a farmer's decision to transition to an integrated mangroveshrimp farm from an extensive shrimp farm (Figure 2). On the side of the value chain and international export market, a major draw of the integrated system is that it allows producers to access niche markets through certification and offering a price premium in export markets (Joffre et al. 2015)). In Vietnam, mangrove-shrimp farming can be recognized as an organic aquaculture practice. Farmers who participate in an organic certification program, such as NaturLand, Aquaculture Stewardship Council (ASC), and Best Aquaculture Practices (BAP) from the Global Seafood Alliance (GSA), are eligible to receive a premium price for certified shrimps. This started when the People's Committee of Ca Mau Province promulgated Decision No 111/QD-UBND, which enables farmers to receive three potential economic benefits, including a higher shrimp price for natural shrimps, a premium by using a certified organic brand, and payment for forest ecosystem services for mangrove-shrimp farming ("Supplementing land use planning of Hiep Hoa district in 2020," n.d.).

A major draw to farmers to transition to an integrated system is the price premium available through organic certification. A study conducted in Ca Mau province in 2022 compared organically certified mangrove-shrimp farming systems to mangrove-shrimp systems without organic certification. For 50 organic farms and 50 non-organic farms that utilized integrated mangrove-shrimp farming, the study found that average mangrove coverage was 54.1% in the organic integrated system and significantly different from the non-organic integrated system (Cong and Khanh 2022). Additionally, the organic integrated system increased shrimp yield, total income, and total profits, and the selling shrimp price increased by 10% compared to the conventional price. Integrated mangrove-shrimp system offers the potential to diversify farm revenue with timber production from mangroves, and overall, an integrated polyculture system diversifies the source of household income (Tran Thi Phung 2012; T. T. P. Ha, van Dijk, and Visser 2014). The availability of capacity and capital is also a significant driver of a farmer's decision to adopt an integrated system. For example, joining a cluster of farms that collectively shift to a mangrove-shrimp production saves operational costs, improves bargaining power, and facilitates knowledge-sharing between farmers (T. T. P. Ha et al. 2013). Access to training and knowledge is critical to enable farmers to create successful conditions for a productive mangrove-shrimp farm.

In addition to market and infrastructure conditions, regulatory frameworks and policy play a critical role in influencing farmers to adopt a mangrove-shrimp system. Subsidies and services such as Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES) and REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from

Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries) from government agencies and the private sector provide a financial incentive for farmers to plant mangrove forests (Schmitt et al. 2011; M. H. Ha, Van Noordwijk, and Thuy, n.d.; Pham et al. 2020). Under Decision No 111/QD-UBND, farmers currently receive at least US\$22 per hectare of mangrove forest (exchange rate in 2021) as a payment for ecosystem services ("Supplementing land use planning of Hiep Hoa district in 2020," n.d.). REDD+ in Vietnam suggests that the price per ton of carbon should be from US \$7 to US \$8 for a minimum area of 1,000 hectares or above \$US 10 for an area of 500 hectares (Pham et al. 2019). REDD + is less promising for small-scale shrimp farmers who farm much smaller areas ranging from around 2-15 hectares. Besides regulatory incentives, access to loans from collectives, private lenders, and banks is key for farmers to acquire the capital for investment in an integrated mangrove-shrimp system (Tran Thi Phung 2012). Most shrimp farmers maintain varying levels of debt in Ca Mau province and do not have the capital to transition to a new system without loans and subsidies.

Finally, the environmental conditions of the area that a farmer operates in will drive their decision to adopt an integrated mangrove-shrimp farming system. First, a farmer who has historically struggled with a high incidence of disease will be more likely to transition to an integrated mangrove system due to the higher resilience to disease in an integrated system (Tendencia, Bosma, and Verreth 2010, 2011). Similarly, farms that face issues of low water quality have a higher likelihood of planting mangroves to improve water quality in a pond (Tendencia et al. 2012). In addition to pre-existing issues with water quality and disease, a farm with mangrove forest in the neighborhood or some degree of existing mangrove cover on the plot of land will be more likely to plant mangroves. Farms without mangrove forests in the area will have less incentive to plant mangroves. To operate a productive integrated mangrove-shrimp farm, there must be enough tidal fluctuation to sustain the mangrove (B. Clough et al. 2004). Finally, farmers that stock P. monodon multiple times a year will spread revenue over the year with multiple harvests, thereby reducing income shocks in the case of a virus and increasing the likelihood of adopting an integrated system (Tran Thi Phung 2012).



Figure 2. Main drivers influencing a farmer's decision-making to shift to an integrated mangrove-shrimp system.

In addition to the factors that drive a farmer to adopt an integrated mangrove-shrimp system, several factors disincentivize a farmer to transition (Figure 3). On the side of the value chain and export market, the organic value chain is often characterized by delays of payments to farmers of several weeks, a lack of transparency in the calculation of premium prices, and unattractive premium prices (Ho 2012). Ha et al. 2012 detail that in the shrimp value chain, premium prices are at times only 6% instead of the expected 20% markup (Tran Thi Phung 2012). Additionally, a low market price of crab or fish will be an obstacle for farmers to plant mangroves and shift to a polyculture model where they raise shrimp, fish, and crab (Gunawan 2012). In regards to infrastructure, a lack of labor, capital, knowledge, and community are major barriers to the implementation of an integrated system. Without the knowledge-sharing associated with the specific conditions to operate a productive integrated shrimp-mangrove farm, farmers will not achieve returns that are comparable to an extensive system and may not reap the benefits of price premiums and associated ecosystem services. On the side of policy and regulation, the mangrove-to-pond area regulation is unattractive to farmers who do not understand the potential benefits of such a policy and would rather have a larger pond area instead of mangroves. Additionally, the existing complex, non-transparent mechanism for mangrove exploitation by the government and its guidelines reduce the incentive for farmers to properly manage their forest cover (T. T. T. Ha, van Dijk, and Bush 2012). Benefits from forest exploitation in an integrated

mangrove-shrimp system are estimated to be seven times lower than the value on the auction market for a system sold independently of the State Forest Enterprise government (T. T. P. Ha, van Dijk, and Visser 2014).

Environmental factors also may deter a farmer from adopting an integrated shrimp-mangrove system. Farmers that control their water exchange and water quality using water treatment and pond preparation are less likely to transition to the integrated system if they are already able to control their water quality and water exchange well in their existing system (T. T. P. Ha et al. 2013). A focus on water quality management by farmers is also associated with a higher intensity of stocking of shrimp. Finally, farms that already have low tidal fluctuation will not be able to achieve healthy mangroves and a highly productive mangrove-integrated system, which decreases a farmer's likelihood of investing in converting to an integrated system.





Although there are varying levels of success in the implementation of mangrove-shrimp farming in Ca Mau province in Vietnam, the implementation of the Selva Shrimp Initiative, an aquaculture improvement initiative developed by Switzerland-based Blueyou Consulting, has recently taken off in Vietnam. The project, which started in 2008, promotes silvofishery with a focus on the extensive production of *P. monodon*. The Selva Shrimp Initiative set up a traceability and quality assurance system for small-scale silvofishery producers that is audited by a third party, which includes Naturland, the EU Organic Aquaculture Regulation, the

Aquaculture Stewardship Council (ASC), and the Fair Trade USA Seafood Program (Fletcher 2020); <u>Benguerel 2024</u>).

To achieve certification through the Selva Shrimp Initiative, farmers must have at least 40% of their ponds covered in mangroves, and farmers are not allowed to use supplementary feed, medicine, or fertilizers. Shrimp post-larvae must come from hatcheries and there is no allowance for wild-caught post-larvae, which differs from systems which use wild-caught seed. There is a maximum stocking density of 22 post-larvae per square meter and shrimp are harvested every two weeks, the first harvest taking place three months after the post-larvae are stocked in the pond. Currently, 3,350 farmers in Vietnam operate under the Selva Shrimp standard in an area covering 17,000 hectares of Vietnam and these produce on average 250 kg of shrimp per hectare per year (Fletcher 2020). Selva Shrimp are currently exported to the United States, Canada, and Japan, and is funded by the IUCN.

The Selva Shrimp Initiative has recently expanded to Kalimantan in Indonesia with hopes of halting mangrove deforestation in the country. However, there are several barriers to implementation in Kalimantan. In the traditional tambak system in Kalimantan, ponds are between 20 and 100 hectares, which is much bigger than Vietnam, and there are no mangroves and low yields. Farmers generally do not invest significant capital and labor in pond management which causes ponds to silt over time and water temperatures to swing widely in shallow areas with low oxygen levels. These water quality issues are exacerbated by fertilizer use which is common in polycultures with milkfish that feed on algae (Fletcher 2020). Farmers that adopt silvofishery and Selva Shrimp certification in Indonesia will need to increase the rate of water exchange to account for the amount of organic matter introduced to the system by litter from mangroves and support a healthy environment for mangrove growth. In January of 2024, eight partner farmers joined the program, contributing 103 hectares of shrimp ponds and planting 23,950 mangrove propagules in the ponds ("Kalimantan Mangrove Shrimp Project" 2021). However, it has been difficult for the Selva Shrimp Initiative to sign formal agreements with pond owners due to resistance to adapting current farming methods without seeing a proof-ofconcept at a local shrimp farm ("Blue Natural Capital" 2020). The hesitancy of farmers to transition from an extensive to an integrated mangrove-shrimp farm highlights the importance of

the environmental, market, regulatory, and infrastructural pre-conditions necessary to incentivize farmers to adopt a silvofishery system.

4d) Policy Options for Silvofishery in Indonesia

In Indonesia, mangrove forests are generally designated into Forest Areas (FA), which are managed by the Ministry of Environment and Forestry, and Areas for Other Uses (APL) that are managed by the Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries. However, this arrangement became more complicated in 2021 when the Peat and Mangrove Restoration Agency was established at the national level, which was tasked to coordinate with national government agencies in implementing peatland and mangrove restoration. The governing bureaucracies all follow their own regulatory frameworks.

There are many policies concerning mangroves in Indonesia, yet an absence of strong and clear regulatory frameworks dedicated to the protection and conservation of mangroves in Indonesia. Due to the increasing economic value of mangrove ecosystems, local and central governments have implemented their own policy priorities and management concepts which are often overlapping and sometimes conflict. Institutions related to mangrove utilization, management, and conservation should be synchronized by strong regulatory frameworks that overcome sectoral boundaries (Mursyid et al. 2021; Arifanti et al. 2022).

Ca Mau province in Vietnam contrasts from Indonesian mangrove policy in that it has enforced significant and centralized policies to halt mangrove deforestation whereas Indonesia's existing mangrove policies lack strong and clear regulatory frameworks. The major policy mechanism that drove the implementation of integrated mangrove-shrimp farming in Vietnam was Decision No. 64 of 1991 which allocated 70% of farmland area for mangroves and 30% for ponds and housing, but implementation has also been driven by certification schemes and Payments for Ecosystem Service (PES) financial incentives. Indonesia has implemented a financial incentive bio-rights scheme for mangrove conservation but has not yet implemented REDD+ and PES for mangrove ecosystem services in the country. These incentives could be implemented in Indonesia. Additionally, a major barrier to farmers in implementing a silvofishery system is a lack of access to financing infrastructure in Vietnam and also Indonesia. Policy options for mangrove conservation of silvofishery in Indonesia come from policies

that have facilitated the widespread adoption of integrated mangrove-shrimp farming in Vietnam and lessons learned from Indonesia and Vietnam (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Potential regulatory policy pathways to increase silvofishery in Indonesia.

4e) Policy Pathways

Policy Pathway 1: Mangrove-Pond Area Regulation, Forestry Bans, and Regulations

- **Summary**: Similarly to Vietnam, Indonesia could implement a regulatory policy such as a mangrove-to-pond area regulation, forestry bans, or other forestry regulations to halt the rate of mangrove deforestation and drive a transition to a silvofishery system. This type of policy has been the major contributor to the widespread prevalence of integrated mangrove-shrimp farming in Ca Mau Province, Vietnam.
- Tradeoffs: Indonesia's mangroves are covered by 22 different laws and are governed by at least 18 different agencies, which results in complicated, conflicting, or unclear policy contexts and decisions (Wever et al. 2012; Sukardjo 2012). Implementing a central policy for mangrove protection in Indonesia is impeded under the decentralized structure of the political system. Additionally, Indonesia faces major issues with oversight–for example, nationally mandated Tanjung Panjang Nature Reserve has continued to be severely deforested due to its remoteness and a lack of national oversight (Friess et al. 2016). A

mangrove-to-pond area regulation or forestry ban must be implemented at a local scale with consistent and strong oversight in order to be successful in Indonesia. Additionally, such a regulatory policy must be implemented with complementary policies that offer financial incentives for mangrove conservation for shrimp farmers. As evidenced from Ca Mau Province in Vietnam, although integrated shrimp-mangrove farming has a high uptake in the region, there is low farmer satisfaction due to a lack of incentives and training for farmers to operate productive farms.

Policy Pathway 2: Financial Incentives for Mangrove Conservation (PES, REDD+, Bio-Rights)

- **Summary**: Overall, Indonesia has demonstrated interest in PES, REDD+, and Bio-rights schemes with varying degrees of success and prevalence, although pilot projects have been implemented in these three categories. Including a strong policy framework in national and provincial law is key to ensuring the success of these financial incentives for mangrove conservation and restoration.
- PES (Payments for Ecosystem Services): Payments for ecosystem services (PES) schemes have operated in Indonesia for more than a decade and are relatively widely accepted, ranging from pilot programs to more established schemes (Landell-Mills, Porras, and International Institute for Environment and Development 2002); (Suyanto et al. 2005). Indonesia has not implemented a widespread PES framework for mangrove conservation and restoration, but has implemented PES schemes in places like Lombok, West Nusa Tenggara and Sumber Jaya, Lampung Province. The PES scheme in Lombok, West Nusa Tenggara aims to increase watershed protection in the upstream forest area and compensate farmers for planting trees and preserving water resources. Funding to farmers was provided by downstream tap water users and is mandated by local regulation as *Pembayaran Jasa Lingkungan (Fauzi and Anna 2013)*. In the PES scheme in Sumber Jaya, Lampung Province, a hydropower company paid upstream farmers with its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) funding to reduce sedimentation and rehabilitate forested areas (Fauzi and Anna 2013).
- **REDD+ (Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation):** Indonesia has historically been enthusiastic about REDD+ since the adoption of the 2007 Bali

Action Plan and has actively participated in international REDD+ negotiations. In 2013, the REDD+ Agency was established by Presidential Decree No. 62/2013 (Harada et al. 2015). So far, national parks have been the main target of REDD+ efforts in Indonesia, such as the REDD+ project in Meru Betiri National Park. The implementation of REDD+ in the park demonstrated high local interest in joining the project to generate a form of alternative income–a similar approach could drive mangrove conservation (Harada et al. 2015). Yet, there are issues related to the implementation of REDD+ in Indonesia, which include a lack of local community involvement in the management of state forests and conflict over state forest property rights (Muttaqin 2012). Studies show that to successfully implement REDD+ in Indonesia, there must be land tenure reforms devolving property rights, communities should be given partial rights to forest resources, or communities are paid for their contribution to forest conservation (Tacconi, Mahanty, and Suich 2010).

- Bio-Rights: Bio-rights is a financing scheme for reconciling poverty alleviation and environmental conservation, whereby providing micro-credits for sustainable development, local communities refrain from unsustainable practices ("Biorights in Theory and Practice: A Financing Mechanism for Linking Poverty Alleviation and Environmental Conservation" 2009). Bio-rights was introduced to Pesantren Village in Central Java in 1998 to re-green land that had been converted to shrimp aquaculture ponds. Micro-credits were provided to community groups to develop activities that can develop a sustainable income, and loan repayments were replaced by conservation services such as reforestation and habitat protection. It was found that bio-rights incentives can encourage communities to participate actively in mangrove restoration, and Pesantren Village benefited from improvement in livelihoods and environmental conditions (Suharti 2017).
- **Tradeoffs:** The recognition of PES schemes in regional and national laws will eventually make PES schemes mandatory rather than voluntary. In Indonesia, voluntary initiatives for conserving forests are weak, so encouraging local governments to initiate more PES-like initiatives is important. For existing PES schemes like in Lampung and Lombok, there are issues in fiscal arrangements and the transaction costs of these schemes. At present, there is not a fiscal system to accommodate the revenue from environmental

services, which is further hindered by the decentralization of natural resource management in Indonesia. Despite these issues, there has been high levels of governmental interest in PES, which has the potential to couple poverty alleviation with environmental conservation, a major goal of silvofishery (Fauzi and Anna 2013). Due to the decentralized structure of Indonesia, engagement with stakeholders has been an issue in the implementation of REDD+ (Mulyani and Jepson 2013). Developing strong streamlined frameworks and campaigns for financial incentives for mangrove conservation is of key importance.

Policy Pathway 3: Certification

- Summary: A major driver of silvofishery in Indonesia could be the adoption of organic certification and price premiums for shrimp that are raised in a silvofishery system. Certification programs like the Selva shrimp standard have demonstrated widespread success in adoption across Ca Mau province and are in the process of implementation in Vietnam. Third-party certifications like ASC, BAP, and GSA have the potential to set a standard for integrated mangrove-shrimp farming by implementing a mangrove conservation criterion into their certification for shrimp farming. Some certifications such as the ASC shrimp standard, which is being implemented in East Java and Kalimantan, already includes a standard for restoring mangroves (Friess et al. 2016). Moreover, the implementation of IndoGAP in the country offers the opportunity to implement a widespread national criteria for mangrove certification. Indonesia stands at a crossroads where the country may opt for its current volume goal of shrimp, which is similar to India, or it may pivot to a goal of quality and reputation, similarly to Ecuador.
- **Tradeoffs:** At present, initial interest in the ASC shrimp standard, which has a mangrove criteria, is low. Traditional aquaculturists are unlikely to be able to afford certification and do not believe that mangroves contribute to increased productivity. If farmers were to be presented with various certification options, and some did not offer a mangrove conservation criteria, it is more likely that a farmer would choose the less strict certification criteria to access premium prices. In order to be successful, all major certifications in Indonesia, including IndoGAP, would need to implement a mangrove restoration criteria. Additionally, these criteria should be paired with education and

training for farmers to implement a productive silvofishery system and understand the value of mangroves.

Policy Pathway 4: Access to Financing Mechanisms, Subsidies, and Loans

- Summary: Case studies in Vietnam and Indonesia highlight that a major barrier to shrimp farmers is a lack of access to financing mechanisms and capital. A majority of shrimp farmers in Indonesia maintain some level of debt to a bank, a private lender, or a cooperative. A major barrier to the implementation of silvofishery is a lack of capital, infrastructure, and labor to make the transition from an extensive to silvofishery system. Thus, implementing subsidies, loans, bio-rights schemes (see above in Policy Option 1) and accessible financing mechanisms to farmers is key to increasing silvofishery in Vietnam. The success of eFishery in Indonesia offers a potential pathway for financial security for farmers by opening access to Kabayan financial services (Kasih, Bayar Nanti) which provide saprokan facilities with payment systems of up to 6 months (Zainudin et al. 2023). eFishery cooperates with both financial institutions and the government, opening up avenues for public-private partnerships that may benefit farmers. In 2022, the Asian Development Bank (ADB) approved a US \$93 million loan to advance shrimp farming for smallholder shrimp farmers in Bali, Banten, Central JAva, East Java, Lampung, Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam, and South Sulawesi. The loan is expected to benefit 5,200 smallholder farmers from infrastructure and capacity improvements, and an additional 35,000 smallholders with increased access to quality feed and shrimp fry, as well as capacity building programs ("ADB Pours \$93m Loan to Advance Indonesia's Shrimp Farming - Economy," n.d.).
- Tradeoffs: The impacts of the ADB loan and eFishery program in Indonesia has yet to be evaluated. Additionally, these financing mechanisms are largely driven by the private sector through government partnerships, but it is unclear how governmental policy and regulations will support further access to these loans and financing mechanisms.

5. Conclusion

We believe that silvofishery can be considered as a sustainable and viable solution for Indonesian shrimp farmers hoping to expand production and compete in global export markets.

Overall, silvofishery is a sustainable shrimp-aquaculture method that has the potential to meet Indonesia's growth and conservation objectives. In comparison with intensive shrimp farming, silvofishery offers competitive economic advantages, reductions in disease risk, and opportunities for mangrove conservation. Additionally, silvofishery can help farmers to maintain cultural ties and incorporate local knowledge of ponds and waters. Silvofishery farms provide an attractive option for small-scale farmers because of their lower capital investment and cost-base (e.g no feed, no water pumping infrastructure, no antibiotics) as compared with more intensive methods. Silvofishery methods can also help to buffer farmers from price volatility in international shrimp markets by providing alternate forms of revenue from the other species cocultured in the farm, and allowing farmers to receive a price premium for their larger-sized and less-chemically-contaminated shrimp.

Key challenges regarding the adoption of silvofishery are, at a high level, the need to prioritize long-run profits and valuation of mangrove ecosystems in order to fully account for the benefits of silvofishery shrimp compared to intensively farmed shrimp. In terms of implementation, there is also a need for technical and place-based expertise to tailor individual silvofishery systems to their immediate environment.

In Vietnam, there are four major policy areas that support the adoption of silvofishery: mangrove conservation regulation, financial incentives, product certification, and streamlined investment access. To this end, Indonesia already has policy pathways to promote silvofishery adoption, with opportunities for growth in the other three areas.

Future research on this topic could engage in a more thorough and detailed comparison of the long-run profits from intensive farming systems versus silvofishery (taking into account disease boom-and-bust; rejection in international export markets; inflation and exchange rates). We would also benefit from better understanding how price premiums for silvofishery farmers shrimp can be achieved through certification schemes in the Indonesian context. To this end, more case studies for different shrimp farming systems could be amassed from other countries including Bangladesh, Ecuador, Thailand and the Philippines, and then compared to the current state of policy/regulation/implementation across Indonesia. Further research could also be conducted to understand the national silvofishery landscape and the ways in which it might address other priorities of the Indonesian government, such as reducing stunting and improving the nutrition of coastal communities.

6. References

- "ADB Pours \$93m Loan to Advance Indonesia's Shrimp Farming Economy." n.d. The Jakarta Post. Accessed March 20, 2024. https://www.thejakartapost.com/business/2022/12/16/adb-pours-93mloan-to-advance-indonesias-shrimp-farming.html.
- Amelia, Fadilah, Ayi Yustiati, and Yuli Andriani. n.d. "Review of Shrimp (Litopenaeus Vannamei (Boone, 1931)) Farming in Indonesia: Management Operating and Development." *Academia.edu*. https://www.academia.edu/download/82581503/WSN 158 2021 145-158.pdf.
- Arifanti, Virni Budi, Frida Sidik, Budi Mulyanto, Arida Susilowati, Tien Wahyuni, Subarno, Yulianti, et al. 2022. "Challenges and Strategies for Sustainable Mangrove Management in Indonesia: A Review." *Forests, Trees and Livelihoods* 13 (5): 695.
- Asche, Frank, James L. Anderson, Robert Botta, Ganesh Kumar, Eirik B. Abrahamsen, Ly T. Nguyen, and Diego Valderrama. 2021. "The Economics of Shrimp Disease." *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 186 (November): 107397.
- Asmild, Mette, Venticia Hukom, Rasmus Nielsen, and Max Nielsen. 2024. "Is Economies of Scale Driving the Development in Shrimp Farming from Penaeus Monodon to Litopenaeus Vannamei? The Case of Indonesia." *Aquaculture* 579 (January): 740178.
- Basyuni, M., P. Yani, and K. S. Hartini. 2018. "Evaluation of Mangrove Management through Community-Based Silvofishery in North Sumatra, Indonesia." *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 122 (1): 012109.
- Bengen, D. G. 2004. "Technical Guidelines for Introduction and Management of Mangrove Ecosystems." Bogor Coastal and Marine Resources Study Center. Bogor.
- Bhattacharya, Poulomi, and K. N. Ninan. 2011. "Social Cost-Benefit Analysis of Intensive versus Traditional Shrimp Farming: A Case Study from India." *Natural Resources Forum* 35 (4): 321–33.
- "Biorights in Theory and Practice: A Financing Mechanism for Linking Poverty Alleviation and Environmental Conservation." 2009. Wetlands International South-Asia. January 31, 2009. https://south-asia.wetlands.org/publications/biorights-theory-practice-financing-mechanism-linkingpoverty-alleviation-environmental-conservation/.
- "Blue Natural Capital." 2020. Blue Natural Capital. International Union for Conservation of Nature. February 3, 2020. https://bluenaturalcapital.org/campaigns/selva-shrimp-kalimantan/.
- Bridson, P. n.d. "Black Tiger Shrimp Ca Mau Province of Southern Vietnam and Other Areas of Southeast Asia." *Monterey Bay Aquarium-Seafood Watch*.
- Budihastuti, R., S. Anggoro, and S. Saputra. 2013. "THE APPLICATION OF SILVOFISHERY ON TILAPIA (Oreochromis Niloticus) AND MILKFISH (chanos Chanos) FATTENING WITHIN MANGROVE ECOSYSTEM OF THE NORTHERN COASTAL AREA OF SEMARANG CITY." *Journal of Coastal Zone Management* 16 (April): 89–93.
- Bui, Thuyet D., Stefan W. Maier, and Chris M. Austin. 2014. "Land Cover and Land Use Change Related to Shrimp Farming in Coastal Areas of Quang Ninh, Vietnam Using Remotely Sensed Data." *Environmental Earth Sciences* 72 (2): 441–55.
- Bunting, Stuart W., Roel H. Bosma, Paul A. M. van Zwieten, and A. S. Sidik. 2013. "BIOECONOMIC MODELING OF SHRIMP AQUACULTURE STRATEGIES FOR THE MAHAKAM DELTA, INDONESIA." Aquaculture Economics & Management 17 (1): 51–70.
- Bush, Simon, Paul van Zwieten, Leontine Visser, Han van Dijk, Roel Bosma, Willem de Boer, and Marc Verdegem. 2010. "Scenarios for Resilient Shrimp Aquaculture in Tropical Coastal Areas." *Ecology* and Society 15 (2). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03331-150215.
- Clough, Barry, Danielle Johnston, Tran Thanh Xuan, Michael J. Phillips, Sunil S. Pednekar, Nguyen Huu Thien, Truong Hoang Dan, and P. L. Thong. 2000. *Silvofishery Farming Systems in Ca Mau Province, Vietnam.* World Bank, NACA, WWF and FAO Consortium Program on Shrimp Farming and the

- Clough, B., Tuan, T. Lu, D. Johnston, M. Phillips, and P. Chanratchakool. 2004. "Mixed Shrimp-Mangrove Farming Practices. A Manual for Extension Workers."
- Cong, Nguyen, and Huynh Khanh. 2022. "Comparison Environmental Conditions and Economic Efficiency between Organic and Non-Organic Integrated Mangrove-Shrimp Farming Systems in ca Mau Province, Vietnam." *Inżynieria Ekologiczna* 23 (5): 130–36.
- Davis, Robert, Ash Abebe, Claude Boyd, and Aaron McNevin. 2021. "Exploring the Relationship between Production Intensity and Land Use: A Meta-Analytic Approach with Shrimp Aquaculture." *Journal of Environmental Management* 300 (December): 113719.
- Farley, Joshua, David Batker, Isabel de la Torre, and Tom Hudspeth. 2010. "Conserving Mangrove Ecosystems in the Philippines: Transcending Disciplinary and Institutional Borders." *Environmental Management* 45 (1): 39–51.
- Fauzi, Akhmad, and Zuzy Anna. 2013. "The Complexity of the Institution of Payment for Environmental Services: A Case Study of Two Indonesian PES Schemes." *Ecosystem Services* 6 (December): 54– 63.
- Fisheries, F. A. O., and Others. 2016. "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Contributing to Food Security and Nutrition for All." https://policycommons.net/artifacts/8944352/the-state-of-world-fisheries-and-aquaculture/9782320/.
- Fitriani, Mita Eka. 2020. "Sustainable Supply Chain Analysis of Shrimp in Indonesia to Meet European Market Demand." Edited by Jacques Trienekens and Gerben van der Velde.
- Fitzgerald, William, Jr, and Others. 2000. "Integrated Mangrove Forest and Aquaculture Systems in Indonesia." https://aquadocs.org/handle/1834/9145.
- Fletcher, Rob. 2020. "Restorative Aquaculture: Selva Shrimp." The Fish Site. December 28, 2020. https://thefishsite.com/articles/restorative-aquaculture-selva-shrimp.
- Friess, Daniel A., Benjamin S. Thompson, Ben Brown, A. Aldrie Amir, Clint Cameron, Heather J. Koldewey, Sigit D. Sasmito, and Frida Sidik. 2016. "Policy Challenges and Approaches for the Conservation of Mangrove Forests in Southeast Asia." *Conservation Biology: The Journal of the Society for Conservation Biology* 30 (5): 933–49.
- Getzner, Michael, and Muhammad Shariful Islam. 2020. "Ecosystem Services of Mangrove Forests: Results of a Meta-Analysis of Economic Values." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 17 (16). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165830.
- Golden, Christopher D., J. Zachary Koehn, Alon Shepon, Simone Passarelli, Christopher M. Free, Daniel F. Viana, Holger Matthey, et al. 2021. "Aquatic Foods to Nourish Nations." *Nature* 598 (7880): 315–20.
- Gunawan, Bambang Indratno. 2012. Shrimp Fisheries and Aquaculture: Making a Living in the Coastal Frontier of Berau, Indonesia. Wageningen University and Research.
- Ha, M. H., M. Van Noordwijk, and P. T. Thuy. n.d. "Payment for Environmental Services: Experiences and Lessons in Vietnam." *Hanoi: World Agroforestry Centre, ICRAF*.
- Harada, Kazuhiro, Dede Prabowo, Arif Aliadi, Jun Ichihara, and Hwan-Ok Ma. 2015. "How Can Social Safeguards of REDD+ Function Effectively Conserve Forests and Improve Local Livelihoods? A Case from Meru Betiri National Park, East Java, Indonesia." *Land* 4 (1): 119–39.
- Harborne, Alastair R., Brendan Talwar, and Edward J. Brooks. 2016. "The Conservation Implications of Spatial and Temporal Variability in the Diurnal Use of Bahamian Tidal Mangrove Creeks by Transient Predatory Fishes." *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 26 (1): 202–11.
- Harefa, Meilinda Suriani, Zulkifli Nasution, Miswar Budi Mulya, and Azhar Maksum. 12 2019. "Silvofishery Pond: An Alternative to Disaster Mitigation Efforts." In . EAI. https://doi.org/10.4108/eai.24-10-2019.2290560.
- Ha, Tran Thi Phung, Han van Dijk, Roel Bosma, and Le Xuan Sinh. 2013. "LIVELIHOOD CAPABILITIES AND PATHWAYS OF SHRIMP FARMERS IN THE MEKONG DELTA, VIETNAM." Aquaculture Economics & Management 17 (1): 1–30.

- Ha, Tran Thi Phung, Han van Dijk, and Leontine Visser. 2014. "Impacts of Changes in Mangrove Forest Management Practices on Forest Accessibility and Livelihood: A Case Study in Mangrove-Shrimp Farming System in Ca Mau Province, Mekong Delta, Vietnam." *Land Use Policy* 36 (January): 89– 101.
- Ha, Tran Thi Thu, Han van Dijk, and Simon R. Bush. 2012. "Mangrove Conservation or Shrimp Farmer's Livelihood? The Devolution of Forest Management and Benefit Sharing in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam." Ocean & Coastal Management 69 (December): 185–93.
- Hoa, Tran Thi Tuyet, Mark P. Zwart, Nguyen Thanh Phuong, Just M. Vlak, and Mart C. M. de Jong. 2011. "Transmission of White Spot Syndrome Virus in Improved-Extensive and Semi-Intensive Shrimp Production Systems: A Molecular Epidemiology Study." *Aquaculture* 313 (1): 7–14.
- Ho, Thi Minh Hop. 2012. "Integration of Farmers in the Shrimp Subsector in the Mekong River Delta, Vietnam." ULiège. GxABT - Liège Université. Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech. https://orbi.uliege.be/handle/2268/116637.
- Hukom, Venticia, Rasmus Nielsen, Mette Asmild, and Max Nielsen. 2020. "Do Aquaculture Farmers Have an Incentive to Maintain Good Water Quality? The Case of Small-Scale Shrimp Farming in Indonesia." *Ecological Economics: The Journal of the International Society for Ecological Economics* 176 (October): 106717.
- Ifoam. 2012. "The IFOAM Norms for Organic Production and Processing." IFOAM Bonn, Germany.
- International Monetary Fund. 2024. "Global Price of Shrimp." *Global Price of Shrimp*. https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/PSHRIUSDM.
- "Investment Guideline for Sustainable Aquaculture in Indonesia." 2018. YIDH. https://www.idhsustainabletrade.com/uploaded/2018/12/Aquaculture-Summary-4.6-WEB.pdf.
- Joffre, Olivier M., Roel H. Bosma, Arnold K. Bregt, Paul A. M. van Zwieten, Simon R. Bush, and Johan A. J. Verreth. 2015. "What Drives the Adoption of Integrated Shrimp Mangrove Aquaculture in Vietnam?" Ocean & Coastal Management 114 (September): 53–63.
- Juwana, Stephanie. 2024. "Blue Foods Data Presentation." Presented at the Blue Foods for Indonesia: A Human & Planetary Health Action Lab, January.
- "Kalimantan Mangrove Shrimp Project." 2021. Global EbA Fund. November 8, 2021. https://globalebafund.org/304 1 176/.
- Klinger, Dane. 2024. "Indonesia Shrimp Aquaculture Lecture." Presented at the Blue Foods for Indonesia: A Human & Planetary Health Action Lab , Stanford Law School, January 23.
- Koch, Evamaria W., Edward B. Barbier, Brian R. Silliman, Denise J. Reed, Gerardo M. E. Perillo, Sally D. Hacker, Elise F. Granek, et al. 2009. "Non-Linearity in Ecosystem Services: Temporal and Spatial Variability in Coastal Protection." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 7 (1): 29–37.
- Kusumastanto, Tridoyo, Curtis M. Jolly, and Conner Bailey. 1998. "A Multiperiod Programming Evaluation of Brackishwater Shrimp Aquaculture Development in Indonesia 1989/1990– 1998/1999." Aquaculture 159 (3): 317–31.
- Landell-Mills, Natasha, Ina T. Porras, and International Institute for Environment and Development. 2002. Silver Bullet Or Fools' Gold?: A Global Review of Markets for Forest Environmental Services and Their Impact on the Poor. International Institute for Environment and Development.
- Lawira, Helena. 2024. "Infrastructure Improvement for Shrimp Aquaculture Project." Asia Development Bank. https://www.adb.org/projects/55020-001/main.
- Layman, Craig A., D. Albrey Arrington, R. Brian Langerhans, and Brian Reed Silliman. 2004. "Degree of Fragmentation Affects Fish Assemblage Structure in Andros Island (Bahamas) Estuaries." *Caribbean Journal of Science* 40 (2): 232–44.
- Malik, Abdul, Rasmus Fensholt, and Ole Mertz. 2015. "Economic Valuation of Mangroves for Comparison with Commercial Aquaculture in South Sulawesi, Indonesia." *Forests, Trees and Livelihoods* 6 (9): 3028–44.
- Malik, Abdul, Ole Mertz, and Rasmus Fensholt. 2017. "Mangrove Forest Decline: Consequences for Livelihoods and Environment in South Sulawesi." *Regional Environmental Change* 17 (1): 157–69.

- "Management of the Integrated Mangrove-Aquaculture Farming Systems in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam." n.d. Accessed March 4, 2024. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=907f57ab94f9999eb6776a3a2a6c f6e6b946d819.
- McNally, Richard, Angus McEwin, and Tim Holland. 2011. "The Potential for Mangrove Carbon Projects in Vietnam." SNV-Netherlands Development Organisation REDD. https://www.academia.edu/download/51925646/The_Potential_for_Mangrove_Carbon_Projec20170 224-19790-1p9rxsc.pdf.
- McSherry, Madeline, Robert P. Davis, Dominic A. Andradi-Brown, Gabby N. Ahmadia, Malou Van Kempen, and Susanna Wingard Brian. 2023. "Integrated Mangrove Aquaculture: The Sustainable Choice for Mangroves and Aquaculture?" *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change* 6 (March). https://doi.org/10.3389/ffgc.2023.1094306.
- Mulyani, Mari, and Paul Jepson. 2013. "REDD+ and Forest Governance in Indonesia: A Multistakeholder Study of Perceived Challenges and Opportunities." *Journal of Environment & Development* 22 (3): 261–83.
- Mursyid, Harsanto, Muhammad Haidar Daulay, Andita Aulia Pratama, Dwi Laraswati, Nisa Novita, Anjelita Malik, and Ahmad Maryudi. 2021. "Governance Issues Related to the Management and Conservation of Mangrove Ecosystems to Support Climate Change Mitigation Actions in Indonesia." *Forest Policy and Economics* 133 (December): 102622.
- Musa, Muhammad, Evellin Dewi Lusiana, Nanik Retno Buwono, Sulastri Arsad, and Mohammad Mahmudi. 2020. "The Effectiveness of Silvofishery System in Water Treatment in Intensive Whiteleg Shrimp (Litopenaeus Vannamei) Ponds, Probolinggo District, East Java, Indonesia." *Biodiversitas: Journal of Biological Diversity* 21 (10). https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d211031.
- Musa, Muhammad, Mohammad Mahmudi, Sulastri Arsad, and Nanik Retno Buwono. 2020. "Feasibility Study and Potential of Pond as Silvofishery in Coastal Area: Local Case Study in Situbondo Indonesia." *Regional Studies in Marine Science* 33 (January): 100971.
- Muttaqin, Muhammad Zahrul. 2012. "Designing Payments for Environmental Services (PES) to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+) in Indonesia." https://doi.org/10.25911/5c6e719645a8e.
- Naturland. 2002. "Naturland Standards for Organic Aquaculture." Naturland Grafelfing, Germany.
- Nguyen, Hai, Long Chu, Richard J. Harper, Bernard Dell, and Hanh Hoang. 2022. "Mangrove-Shrimp Farming: A Triple-Win Approach for Communities in the Mekong River Delta." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 221 (April): 106082.
- Oudenhoven, Alexander P. E. van, Audrie J. Siahainenia, Ita Sualia, Femke H. Tonneijck, Sander van der Ploeg, Rudolf S. de Groot, Rob Alkemade, and Rik Leemans. 2015. "Effects of Different Management Regimes on Mangrove Ecosystem Services in Java, Indonesia." Ocean & Coastal Management 116 (November): 353–67.
- Paramita, Adiska Octa, Stefan Partelow, Achim Schlüter, and Nurliah Buhari. 2023. "Can the Indonesian Collective Action Norm of Gotong-Royong Be Strengthened with Economic Incentives? Comparing the Implementation of an Aquaculture Irrigation Policy Program" 17 (1): 462–80.
- Paul, Brojo Gopal, and Christian Reinhard Vogl. 2013. "Organic Shrimp Aquaculture for Sustainable Household Livelihoods in Bangladesh." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 71 (January): 1–12.
- Pham, Hoang, Nguyen, Dao, Ngo, and Pham. 2019. *The Context of REDD+ in Vietnam: Drivers, Agents and Institutions [2nd Edition]*. Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR).
- Pham, T. T., T. L. Hoàng, L. C. Đào Thi, C. N. Hà, M. H. Hoàng, T. U. Hoàng, T. T. Hoàng Thị, et al. 2020. Who Will Buy? Potential Buyers for Mangrove Environmental Services in Vietnam: Results from a Case Study in Hai Phong. CIFOR.
- Rubel, H., W. Woods, D. Pérez, S. Unnikrishnan, A. Meyer, Z. Felde, S. Zielcke, C. Lidy, and C. Lanfer. 2021. "A Strategic Approach to Sustainable Shrimp Production in Vietnam: The Case for Improved Economics and Sustainability. Boston Consulting Group (BCG)."

Sahidin, Asep, Nia Kurniawati, Heti Herawati, and Achmad Rizal. n.d. "Fertility Differences between Silvofishery Pond and Conventional Pond in Legonkulon, Subang District, Indonesia." Accessed March 5, 2024. https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/90079536/WSN-118-2019-115-128libre.pdf?1661173445=&response-content-

disposition=inline%3B+filename%3DFertility_Differences_between_Silvofishe.pdf&Expires=1709 622077&Signature=g7hx-OptW0QgVt3h0W0vRobPl2qVbvxUYhrV837ZPuZ1kP-QexpKjHBX-VXs1EqN7UItq2BRmgiDV60KKvt9e27JUQKHUUPPRrove4XwB7HfbVBLkyAXKzU9WiAzbY1 w2PXtwRG-V67i02LCWk5aBDnmEemw1C4zqtLer1D-NCQiDenimwn~-9fsrNgoF1-1Gjc~jHDugaiCySdXzVorWF5QY6DFylM5oe--PtLTmojk4X2zV67br-UfM4mVmpBvGhkVQ6LzMwxN-

Uou3eglKQEtKXTNymd6DLJl6SHRO~zIESxue3SfuQXMcfL~83qS4knh6z7phSC4OpF23OK5qQ &Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA.

- Sasmito, Sigit D., Mohammad Basyuni, Age Kridalaksana, Meli F. Saragi-Sasmito, Catherine E. Lovelock, and Daniel Murdiyarso. 2023. "Challenges and Opportunities for Achieving Sustainable Development Goals through Restoration of Indonesia's Mangroves." *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 7 (1): 62–70.
- Schmitt, G. C., Arbo, L. G. Rossato, E. Dallegrave, M. B. Leal, and R. P. Limberger. 2011. "Citrus Aurantium L. (bitter Orange): Chemical Composition, Pharmacological Properties and Toxicological Aspects." In *Citrus Fruits: Properties, Consumption and Nutrition*, 87–102. Nova Science Publishers, Inc.
- Shinn, A. P., J. Pratoomyot, D. Griffiths, T. Q. Trong, N. T. Vu, P. Jiravanichpaisal, and M. Briggs. 2018. "Asian Shrimp Production and the Economic Costs of Disease." *Asian Fisheries Science* 31S: 29– 58.
- Stokstad, Erik. 2010. "Down on the Shrimp Farm." Science 328 (5985): 1504-5.
- Suharti, Sri. 2017. "Development of Bio-Rights Incentive Scheme for Participatory Restoration and Conservation of Mangrove Resources." *Biodiversitas: Journal of Biological Diversity* 18 (1). https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d180117.
- Sukardjo, Sukristijono. 2000. "Indonesia: Mangrove-Friendly Aquaculture." https://aquadocs.org/handle/1834/9152.
- 2012. "Indonesian Mangroves: Critical Challenges and Strategies for Their Sustainable Management after the 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami." *Sharing Lessons on Mangrove Restoration* 39. http://www.mangrovesforthefuture.org/assets/Repository/Documents/Call-for-Action-and-Proceedings-from-2012-Colloquium-Mamallapuram-India.pdf#page=41.

"Supplementing land use planning of Hiep Hoa district in 2020." n.d. Accessed March 19, 2024. https://en.bacgiang.gov.vn/detailed-news/-

/asset_publisher/MVQI5B2YMPsk/content/supplementing-land-use-planning-of-hiep-hoa-district-in-2020?inheritRedirect=false.

- Susilo, Heru, Yoshifumi Takahashi, Goshi Sato, Hisako Nomura, and Mitsuyasu Yabe. 2018. "The Adoption of Silvofishery System to Restore Mangrove Ecosystems and Its Impact on Farmers' Income in Mahakam Delta, Indonesia." *Journal of the Faculty of Agriculture, Kyushu University* 63 (2): 433–42.
- Suwarto, Dwinita Aquastini, Hasanudin, M. Masrudy, M. Fadjeri, Emi Malaysia, Noorhamsyah, Sofyan Bulkis, Herijanto Thamrin, and Rudi Djatmiko. 2022. "Productivity and Economic Value of Fishery Commodity at Traditional Silvofishery Ponds." Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.7487958.
- Suyanto, S., B. Leimona, R. Permana, and F. J. C. Chandler. 2005. "Review of Developments of Environmental Services Markets in Indonesia." https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/67005/2503_Suyanto2005_ReviewMarketESIn donesia Fina.pdf?sequence=1.
- Tacconi, Luca, Sango Mahanty, and Helen Suich. 2010. *Payments for Environmental Services, Forest Conservation and Climate Change: Livelihoods in the Redd?* Edward Elgar Publishing.

Takashima, F. 2000. "Silvofishery: An Aquaculture System Harmonized with the Environment," 13–19.

- Taw, Nyan. 2017. "A Look at Various Intensive Shrimp Farming Systems in Asia." Global Seafood Alliance. July 2017. https://www.globalseafood.org/advocate/intensive-shrimp-farmingasia/?headlessPrint=AAAAAPIA9c8r7gs82oWZBA.
- Tendencia, Eleonor A., Roel H. Bosma, Jurgenne H. Primavera, and Johan A. J. Verreth. 2012. "Effect of Different Mangrove-to-Pond Area Ratios on Influent Water Quality and WSSV Occurrence in Penaeus Monodon Semi-Intensive Farms Using the Greenwater Culture Technique." Aquaculture 362-363 (September): 72–79.
- Tendencia, Eleonor A., Roel H. Bosma, and Johan A. J. Verreth. 2010. "WSSV Risk Factors Related to Water Physico-Chemical Properties and Microflora in Semi-Intensive Penaeus Monodon Culture Ponds in the Philippines." *Aquaculture* 302 (3): 164–68.
- ——. 2011. "White Spot Syndrome Virus (WSSV) Risk Factors Associated with Shrimp Farming Practices in Polyculture and Monoculture Farms in the Philippines." *Aquaculture* 311 (1): 87–93.
- Thitiwan Patanasatienkul, Milan Gautam, K. Larry Hammell, Dimas Gilang, Marina K. V. C. Delphino, Holly Burnley, Nikmatun Aliyah Salsabila, Krishna K. Thakur. 2023. "Survey of Farm Management and Biosecurity Practices on Shrimp Farms on Java Island, Indonesia." *Frontiers in Aquaculture*, July.

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/faquc.2023.1169149/ful l&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1710882880208125&usg=AOvVaw3YZKII55VjV9hFFj96WNdO.

- Tran Thi Phung, H. 2012. "Resilience and Livelihood Dynamics of Shrimp Farmers and Fishers in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam." Phd, S.l. https://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/wurpubs/423609.
- Umilia, Ema, and Asbar. 2016. "Formulation of Mangrove Ecosystem Management Model Based on Eco-Minawisata in the Coastal Sinjai, South Sulawesi." *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences* 227 (July): 704–11.
- Wever, L., M. Glaser, P. Gorris, and D. Ferrol-Schulte. 2012. "Decentralization and Participation in Integrated Coastal Management: Policy Lessons from Brazil and Indonesia." Ocean & Coastal Management 66 (September): 63–72.
- Widiarti, A., and R. Effendi. 1989. "Socio-Economic Aspects of Tambak Forest in Mangrove Forest Complex." *Proceedings Symposium on Mangrove Management*.
- Wisnu, R. P., M. Karuniasa, and S. S. Moersidik. 2019. "The Effect of Fish Aquaculture on Water Quality in Lake Cilala, Bogor Regency." *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 399 (1): 012111.
- Zainudin, Arif, Akhmad Habibullah, Yuni Arfiani, and Sesya Dias Mumpuni. 2023. "Digital Transformation on Aquaculture in Indonesia through eFishery." *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 1147 (1): 012024.
- International Monetary Fund. "Global Price of Shrimp." *Global Price of Shrimp*, March 2024. https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/PSHRIUSDM.
- Shinn, A. P., and Fish Vet Group Asia Limited, Muang Chonburi, Chonburi, Thailand. "Asian Shrimp Production and The Economic Costs of Disease." *Asian Fisheries Science* 31S (December 31, 2018). https://doi.org/10.33997/j.afs.2018.31.s1.003.

7. Appendices

Appendix Table 1. Calculated costs and revenue of silvofishery ponds in Indonesia using data from Rusdi & Jasin 1994 (cited in Takashima 2000)

Item	Pond covered mangrove tree	by dense s (> 80%)	Pond covered by sparse mangrove trees (40-60%)	
Farm (area)	6 ha	3 ha	4 ha	8 ha
Operational costs	172,550	609,200	501,000	2,353,700
Variable costs				
Seeds	0	191,400	217,500	360,000
Fertilizer	0	53,000	40,500	50,400
Chemicals	0	29,000	30,000	0
Harvesting	37,500	40,000	25,000	41,300
Fixed costs	1,688,000	295,800	284,000	1,902,000
Gross revenue	360,000	1,235,000	1,128,000	1,385,000
Net revenue	154,000	625,000	529,000	933,000
Total net revenue	924,000	1,875,000	2,116,000	7,464,000

Table 3. Costs-and-returns of silvofishery (rupiah/ha/year)

Appendix Figure 1. Diagram of integrated mangrove-shrimp farm system in Ca Mau, Vietnam (Barry Clough et al. 2000)

